FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/20/2020 2:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 98296-1

(Court of Appeals No. 51253-0-11)

GERRI S. COOGAN, the spouse of JERRY D. COOGAN, deceased, and JAMES P. SPURGETIS, solely in his capacity as the Personal Representative of the Estate of JERRY D. COOGAN, Deceased,

Respondents,

v.

GENUINE PARTS COMPANY d/b/a NATIONAL AUTOMOTIVE PARTS ASSOCIATION a/k/a NAPA; NATIONAL AUTOMOT IVE PARTS ASSOCIATION,

Appellants,

and

BORG-WARNER MORSE TEC INC. (sued individually and as successor-in-interest to BORG-WARNER CORPORATION);

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This lawsuit arises out of the wrongful death of Jerry "Doy" Coogan from malignant mesothelioma, a cancer uniquely caused by asbestos exposure. Petitioners are Mr. Coogan's widow, Gerri Sue Coogan, and the representative of his estate, James Spurgetis. They were the Plaintiffs in the trial court and Respondents in the Court of Appeals.

After a four-month trial, a unanimous jury found that Defendants/Appellants Genuine Parts Company (GPC) and National Automotive Parts Association (NAPA) were negligent and strictly liable for their manufacture and sale of asbestos products that caused Mr. Coogan's mesothelioma. Based on the Petitioners' evidence that Mr. Coogan suffered immensely as a result of his cancer diagnosis and death, which was completely undisputed at trial, the jury awarded \$30 million in damages to Mr. Coogan's estate for his pain and suffering, as well additional damages to his widow and adult daughters. The trial court determined that the verdict, while large, was based on the evidence and was not excessive.

While the Court of Appeals upheld the liability findings against GPC/NAPA, the majority reversed the damages to Mr. Coogan's estate based upon a finding that the award "shocks the court's conscience." (App. 23). In doing so, it substituted its own view of the evidence for that of the jury and did not give proper deference to the unanimous jury or to the trial

court, as required by this Court's precedent. *See Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 246, 840 P.2d 860 (1992); *Bingaman v. Grays Harbor Community Hosp.*, 103 Wn.2d 831, 835, 699 P.2d 1230, 1233 (1985). The arbitrary and subjective nature of the majority's decision is highlighted by Judge Melnick's dissent from this portion of the opinion. (App. 51-52). Observing that "the majority does not give deference to the jury that the parties selected to hear this case" and "also does not take into account that the defendants in this case never told the jury what they thought would be a reasonable amount of damages," Judge Melnick concluded that the award "does not shock my conscience" and that "[n]o amount of money could ever compensate Doy for the suffering he endured as a result of peritoneal mesothelioma." (App. 52).

The Court of Appeals also set aside the damages awards to Mr. Coogan's wife and children, erroneously finding that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding an expert witness who planned to testify that Mr. Coogan had alcohol-related cirrhosis of the liver that affected his life expectancy. (App. 18-20).

This Court should accept review for three reasons:

First, the majority's shocks-the-conscience ruling conflicts with the legal standards for reviewing damages awards set forth in *Washburn* and *Bingaman*. This conflict merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and

presents issues of substantial and recurring public interest meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should reaffirm that in reviewing a jury award, substantial deference must be given to the jury and the trial court and that an appellate court cannot substitute its own judgment for that of the jury on the basis of a subjective belief that the award is too high.

Second, the majority did not apply the proper standard for determining whether a damages award "shocks the conscience" under Washburn, Bunch v. King Cty. Dep't of Youth Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 174, 116 P.3d 386 (2005), and Kramer v. Portland-Seattle Auto Freight, Inc., 43 Wn.2d 386, 395, 261 P.2d 692, 697 (1953). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because the majority selectively quoted Bunch without acknowledging that the standard it was relying on also required a showing of passion or prejudice, which was found by the majority opinion to be absent in this case.

Third, review should be granted because the Court of Appeals's opinion holding that Dr. Schuster should have been allowed to testify that Mr. Coogan had an alcohol-related condition conflicts with precedent holding that evidence regarding alcohol is highly prejudicial and should be excluded under ER 403. *See Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 356, 314 P.3d 380 (2014); *Needham v. Dreyer*, 454 P.3d 136, 146 (Wash. App.

2019); *Kramer v. J. I. Case Mfg. Co.*, 62 Wn. App. 544, 559-60, 815 P.2d 798 (1991). This conflict merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Coogan family seeks review of the unpublished decision filed on February 19, 2020, by Division II of the Court of Appeals, reversing the jury's verdict on damages, affirming the verdict on liability, and remanding for a new trial on damages only. (App. 1-52).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did a majority of the Court of Appeals improperly substitute its own judgment on damages for that of the jury in setting aside the damages award to Mr. Coogan's estate on the basis of its subjective belief that the award was too high?
- 2. Did a majority of the Court of Appeals apply an improper legal standard for determining whether a damages award "shocks the conscience" of the court?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously determine that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the expert testimony of Dr. Schuster that Mr. Coogan had alcohol-related cirrhosis of the liver?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Mr. Coogan suffered immensely from mesothelioma.

Doy Coogan was exposed to asbestos from his automotive repair

work and from his maintenance and operation of heavy equipment in his excavating business. He regularly used asbestos-containing Rayloc brakes manufactured by GPC, purchasing those and other asbestos-containing automotive and heavy equipment parts at his local NAPA store in Kettle Falls, Washington. (Ex. 68, ¶ 7; 9 RP 158, 161; 13 RP 69-71, 73, 78-79, 140-41, 163-64; 14 RP 33-34; 21 RP 213). The medical causation evidence established that Mr. Coogan's exposure from asbestos brakes in the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s was "very significant," and was a substantial contributing factor in causing his disease. (9 RP 156-57, 159).

There was no dispute that asbestos exposure caused Mr. Coogan to develop malignant mesothelioma in his peritoneum (the membrane lining his abdomen) that metastasized to other parts of his body. (7 RP 79; 11 RP 83, 90-91; 39 RP 94, 133-34; CP 16928). He was only 67 years old and still working full-time in excavation when he got cancer. (11 RP 80; 47 RP 120).

Mr. Coogan's mesothelioma was unusually extensive in that he had tumors in his abdomen, diaphragm, and both lungs. (11 RP 84-88; 39 RP 131-34). The tumors spread and obstructed his bowels. (11 RP 84-85). He developed severe malnutrition, anorexia, and cachexia. (11 RP 80-86). Cachexia is a wasting away from lack of nutrients. (11 RP 85). Eventually, there is a complete inability to eat. (11 RP 88). Mr. Coogan's inability to take in fluids caused his kidneys to fail. (11 RP 87-88). With peritoneal

mesothelioma, "starvation ensues because people can't keep up their nutrition." (7 RP 140).

In the meantime, the cancer spread to Mr. Coogan's lungs, causing large bilateral pleural effusions. (11 RP 85-86; 39 RP 131-34). Effusions crowd the lungs and make it hard to breath. (39 RP 125). Mr. Coogan had to be admitted to the hospital after his lungs collapsed, and "[t]here was significant shortness of breath, there was significant pain." (11 RP 86). He experienced "air hunger." (11 RP 87).

Although Mr. Coogan's mesothelioma was incurable (11 RP 83), his doctors attempted to slow the cancer through surgical resection, rounds of chemotherapy, radiation, and blood transfusions. (18 RP 80, 83-84). He regularly made the two-hour drive to Spokane to have fluid drained from his stomach (11 RP 82), and he had a catheter placed in his chest to drain fluid from his lungs every day. (11 RP 85). Mr. Coogan died six months after his diagnosis. (11 RP 90). The average life expectancy of a man Mr. Coogan's age, 67 years old, is 15 years. (47 RP 120).

The parties were in agreement that Mr. Coogan's cancer diagnosis and death were absolutely awful. GPC/NAPA's counsel acknowledged in her opening statement that this was "the worse diagnosis anyone can imagine." (7 RP 57-58). In closing, she reiterated that "[i]t's not fair that he died of this horrible disease." (47 RP 194). The jury even heard expert

testimony, *from the defense*, that peritoneal mesothelioma is "an unfortunate way to die, and there's a lot of pain and suffering." (CP 18429).

B. GPC/NAPA sought to impugn Mr. Coogan's character with expert testimony that he had alcohol-related cirrhosis of the liver.

The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion in limine to exclude Dr. Schuster's testimony on ER 403 grounds (2 RP 97, 99), but allowed GPC/NAPA to make an offer of proof at trial. (26 RP 141-67). Dr. Schuster's opinion is that Mr. Coogan had alcohol-related cirrhosis of the liver. (CP 4712; 26 RP 145, 155-57). When asked for his opinions at his deposition, Dr. Schuster started with "No. 1, I believe that this man had a huge or significant alcohol ingestion history." (CP 4712). He claimed that alcohol ingestion had caused cirrhosis of the liver, which at Stage 3 would reduce Mr. Coogan's life expectancy to five years. (26 RP 145).

The trial court concluded that "even if [Dr. Schuster's opinion] does have some basis, the prejudicial effect of characterizing Mr. Coogan as an alcoholic, a chronic, heavy drinker, is something that I think is unduly prejudicial." (2 RP 97; *see also* 11 RP 78-79; 26 RP 165, 167).

C. Jury verdict and post-trial proceedings.

The jury returned a verdict for the Coogan family, finding GPC/NAPA liable on theories of negligence and strict products liability and awarding \$30 million in damages to Mr. Coogan's estate for his pain and

suffering prior to death. (48 RP 9-13; CP 15018-22). The jury further awarded \$30 million to his wife for her loss of consortium, \$10 million each to his two daughters, and \$1.5 million in economic damages. (*Id.*) After a setoff for Plaintiffs' settlements with other defendants, judgment was entered against GPC/NAPA for \$77,115,174.03. (Notice of Appeal).

The trial court denied GPC/NAPA's motion for new trial under CR 59 or remittitur under RCW 4.76.030. (12/1/17 RP 59). The trial court found that the jury's verdict was entitled to the substantial deference, was based on the evidence, and was not the product of passion or prejudice: "I do not consider the fact that the verdict was large to be evidence that somehow the jury was stoked by passion. It was a 12-0 verdict." (12/1/17 RP 58-59).

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to correct the majority's improper substitution of its own judgment on damages for that of the jury.

The Court of Appeals's majority opinion recited the law regarding review of a damages award, but did not follow it. Instead, it substituted its own view of the evidence for that of the unanimous jury in this case, in contravention of decades of Washington law.

There are only three reasons an appellate court may set aside a damages award. Under established precedent, "[a]n appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by a jury unless it is outside the range

of substantial evidence in the record, or shocks the conscience of the court, or appears to have been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice." *Bingaman*, 103 Wn. 2d at 835.

As noted by Judge Melnick's dissent, the majority notably did not find that the damages awarded to Mr. Coogan's estate was outside the range of the evidence or was the result of passion or prejudice. (App. 51). In fact, the court rejected GPC/NAPA's argument that the jury acted with passion or prejudice. (App. 25).

The majority nevertheless concluded, with little analysis, that the award of \$30 million for Mr. Coogan's pain and suffering shocks the conscience of the court. (App. 22). Its sole reason for shock was that Mr. Coogan suffered with cancer for only six months of his life, and the court considered this to be a "short time that Doy was sick." (App. 23).

In refusing to defer to the jury and the trial court, the majority's decision conflicts with a number of settled principles regarding appellate review of damages awards. First, the reviewing court must "strongly presume the jury's verdict is correct." *Bunch*, 155 Wn.2d at 179. An appellate court must "start with the established premise that the determination of damages is a constitutional function of the jury." *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 269, 840 P.2d at 873. "Washington has consistently looked to the jury to determine damages as a factual issue,

especially in the area of noneconomic damages." *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 648, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). Valuing pain and suffering damages "is primarily and peculiarly within the province of the jury," which is why "courts should be and are reluctant to interfere with the conclusion of a jury when fairly made." *Bingaman*, 103 Wn.2d at 835.

Second, trial court denial of a motion for new trial strengthens the jury's damages verdict. "[D]eference and weight are given to the evaluation of the trial court's exercise of discretion in denying a new trial on a claim of excessiveness." *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 271. This Court has instructed that "[t]he verdict is strengthened by denial of a new trial by the trial court." *Id.* The trial court is uniquely situated to evaluate the evidence as it was received by the jury. *Id.* at 270. "The trial court sees and hears the witnesses, jurors, parties, counsel and bystanders; it can evaluate at first hand such things as candor, sincerity, demeanor, intelligence and any surrounding incidents." *Bingaman*, 103 Wn.2d at 835. By contrast, the appellate court "is tied to the written record" and "cannot share the experiences of the jury or the trial court." *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 270 (quoting *Bingaman*, 103 Wn.2d at 835).

Third, an appellate court may not substitute its own judgment for that of the jury on damages. *Bunch*, 155 Wn.2d at 174; *Rasor v. Retail Credit Co.*, 87 Wn.2d 516, 531, 554 P.2d 1041, 1051 (1976). "The fact that

the court would have assessed a smaller or larger amount than the jury is not a ground to interfere with the verdict." *Rasor*, 87 Wn.2d at 531. "It is not enough to say, that in the opinion of the court, the damages are too high, and that we would have given much less." *Kramer v. Portland-Seattle Auto Freight*, 43 Wn.2d at 395 (quoting *Coleman v. Southwick*, 1812, 9 Johns., N.Y., 45, 6 Am.Dec. 253). "Amount alone cannot equal excessiveness; the fact that \$8 million is a large sum of money is beside the point." *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 278.

The majority's opinion contravened all of these important principles. It chose to "disregard the jury's verdict and the trial court's refusal to find the verdict excessive." (App. 23). In dissent, Judge Melnick rightly observing that "the majority does not give deference to the jury that the parties selected to hear this case." (App. 51). The jury is given such deference "because the jury has heard the testimony, evaluated the witnesses, and decided what facts have been proved." (App. 51). Among other evidence, the jury considered that Mr. Coogan's suffering lasted more than six months, as it began even before he first went to see a doctor, and that he "died a horrible death as a result of the asbestos poisoning" characterized by "tumors that caused bowel obstruction and fluid buildup, as well as malnutrition and excessive fluid around his lungs," "breathlessness," "pain-related insomnia, constipation, dehydration, and

kidney failure." (App. 52). In its analysis, the majority dismissed all of this evidence on the basis that "Doy's health was unaffected until the last six months of his life." (App. 23). The majority's judgment ignores that six months of agonizing pain and starvation would not have seemed very rapid from Mr. Coogan's perspective, nor did it seem so to the jury.

Judge Melnick further noted that "[t]he majority also does not take into account that the defendants in this case never told the jury what they thought would be a reasonable amount of damages." (App. 51). Indeed, it was completely undisputed that Mr. Coogan suffered immensely as his body was ravaged by cancer over the last months of his life, as both parties discussed in opening and closing arguments. (6 RP 4-6, 10; 7 RP 57-58; 47 RP 188-89, 194). During closing argument, Plaintiffs' counsel suggested that \$30 million would be an appropriate amount for Mr. Coogan's pain and suffering given what a horrible death he endured over the course of many months. (47 RP 190-91). GPC/NAPA did not disagree with Plaintiffs' suggested damages award, but rather "solely argued about liability, and that they had none." (App. 51; 47 RP 193-226). Defense counsel agreed in closing that "[i]t's not fair that he died of this horrible disease," (47 RP 194), did not dispute that \$30 million was a reasonable valuation of Mr. Coogan's damages, and offered no alternative figure. Notably, the Ninth Circuit recently applied *Bingaman* in a similar setting to uphold a damages award when the "appellants chose not to address damages during their closing argument, and there is support in the record for the size of the damages award." *Coachman v. Seattle Auto Management, Inc.*, 787 Fed. App'x 416, 417 (9th Cir. Dec. 11, 2019).

Rather than consider all these factors, the majority instead improperly substituted its own judgment that the verdict was simply too much. It admitted that its "determination necessarily is a subjective one." (App. 24). Indeed, as Judge Melnick wrote, "the majority bases its ruling solely on its subjective belief, after reading a cold record, that the verdict 'shocks the conscience of the court." (App. 51). The completely arbitrary nature of this belief is confirmed by Judge Melnick's own judgment that "[t]he verdict for these noneconomic damages does not shock my conscience." (App. 52).

The jury was told that it was to use its own judgment in valuing damages and was given a suggestion of \$30 million in closing that was never disputed by GPC/NAPA as unreasonable or extreme. Twelve jury members unanimously agreed \$30 million was the right amount. The trial court, with the benefit of observing the parties, the jury, and evidence, found that the verdict was not excessive or shocking. (12/1/17 RP 58-59). Judge Melnick concluded the same. (App. 52). The majority is alone in its shock; its reversal contradicts established Washington case law requiring

deference to the jury and the trial judge and prohibiting substitution of its own judgment for that of the jury.¹ The importance of deference outlined in *Bingaman* is highlighted in a case such as this, where the appellate court seeks to substitute its own conclusion based on a cold record for the four months of evidence and witnesses seen by the jury and trial court.

B. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because the majority did not properly follow the shocksthe-conscience standard.

The majority did not properly analyze what it means for a damages award to shock the conscience. Its selective quotation of *Bunch* misleadingly omitted an important part of the standard that also requires a finding of passion or prejudice by the jury. Twice the majority quoted the standard as that "the damages must strike the court 'at first blush, as being, beyond all measure, unreasonable and outrageous." (App. 22, 24 [quoting *Bunch*, 155 Wn.2d at 179]). That is only part of the sentence, which reads in full that "'[t]he damages, therefore, must be so excessive as to strike mankind, at first blush, as being, beyond all measure, unreasonable and

-

¹ Moreover, under the facts of this case, the majority opinion permits GPC/NAPA to effectively mislead the jury into believing that the defense does not dispute Plaintiffs' argument concerning pain and suffering damages, and then after a verdict on damages that Defendants do not like, succeed on an argument – that was never made to the jury – that the same verdict shocks the conscience. Neither GPC/NAPA nor the majority opinion cite any cases permitting such a practice.

outrageous, and such as manifestly show the jury to have been actuated by passion, partiality, prejudice, or corruption." Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 179 (quoting Kramer, 43 Wn.2d at 395) (emphasis added).

The majority found that the verdict was not the product of passion or prejudice, (App. 25), and there has been no evidence or finding that the jury was motivated by partiality or corruption. The majority erred in that it failed to apply the proper standard stated in *Bunch*. *Bunch* is inconsistent with the majority's conclusion that it can set aside a jury verdict merely on a belief that the award is "beyond all measure, unreasonable and outrageous" in the absence of passion or prejudice.

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