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

no evidence that the plaintiff was inebriated or had an elevated blood-

alcohol content. Id. at 495.  Absent that evidence, the alcohol-use evidence

was not relevant. Id.  at  495-96.   The  court  further  held  that  even  if  the

defendant had shown that the evidence had some probative value, it was

substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice from evidence

casting the plaintiff as a heavy drinker. Id. at 496-97.

Those cases are nothing like this one.  Here, the defense established

that Dr. Schuster’s opinion was probative of Doy’s life expectancy, which

was a central issue in the case.  The Coogans argue that Division Two failed

to weigh the opinion’s probative value or acknowledge “the uncertainty in

Schuster’s opinion” (Petition at 19), but the only supposed “uncertainty”

the Coogans point to is that Dr. Schuster could not estimate how much of

Doy’s ascites were caused by mesothelioma versus cirrhosis. Id. at 19 n.2.

That testimony did not undermine Dr. Schuster’s opinion that Doy had

stage 3 cirrhosis. Id.  Again, what was critical was that Doy had an enlarged

spleen, which Dr. Schuster stated would necessarily cause some ascites and

result in stage 3 diagnosis.  Division Two understood as much. See Slip Op.

at 17.  According to Division Two, the probative value of Dr. Schuster’s

testimony was “undeniable.” Id. at 19 (quoting Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 224).

Nor was there any danger of undue prejudice in that testimony,

much  less  the  type  of  undue  prejudice  that  substantially  outweighs  an

opinion’s probative value.  Dr. Schuster’s core life-expectancy opinion had

nothing to do with alcohol use—unlike the proposed alcohol-related

testimony in Kramer and Needham.   As  Division  Two  observed,  Dr.
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Schuster in his offer of proof never opined about  what  caused  Doy’s

cirrhosis. Slip Op. at 18.  Indeed, Dr. Schuster could have given his

opinions about cirrhosis and life expectancy without ever mentioning

alcohol use, and he was prepared to do so. See id. at 19.  That reality gives

yet another reason why there is no conflict to resolve between Division

Two’s unpublished decision and any alcohol-related ER 403 appellate

decisions.  In any event, this Court should not accept review to engage in

ER 403 balancing when the risk of prejudice was zero.

There is nothing review-worthy about Division Two’s holdings.

The court’s unpublished decision conflicts with no decision of this Court or

any published decision of the Court of Appeals.  Nor does anything in the

court’s expert-related analysis present an issue of substantial public

interest. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).  This Court should deny review

of Division Two’s determination that the trial court erred in excluding Dr.

Schuster’s cirrhosis opinion.

B. The Coogans identify no basis for this Court to review Division
Two’s holding (again, in an unpublished decision) that a $30
million award was so excessive that it shocked the court’s
conscience.

Division Two also applied well-established precedent in vacating

the  jury’s  $30  million  verdict  for  Doy’s  estate  because  the  award  was  so

excessive that it shocked the court’s conscience.  The Coogans cite no case

from this Court or the Court of Appeals that conflicts with the court’s

holding on that score.   And there is  none.  Nor do the Coogans raise any
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issue of substantial public interest concerning their outlier $30 million

verdict.

1. Division Two’s decision does not conflict with prior
decisions setting forth the legal standard for determining
a verdict’s excessiveness.

Division Two was unanimous in stating the law governing a court’s

authority regarding an excessive verdict. See Slip Op. at 51 (Melnick, J.,

dissenting) (“The majority correctly states the law[.]”).  Following this

Court’s teaching, Division Two explained that courts may determine that a

verdict is excessive because it is “[1] outside the range of substantial

evidence in the record, or [2] shocks the court’s conscience, or [3] appears

to be the result of passion or prejudice.” Bunch v.  King Cty. Dep’t of Youth

Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005) (quoting Bingaman v.

Grays Harbor Cmty. Hosp., 103 Wn.2d 831, 835, 699 P.2d 1230 (1985))

(emphasis added); see also Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co., 120 Wn.2d 246,

268, 280, 840 P.2d 860 (1992); Slip Op. at 20.

Division Two relied on the second ground, holding that the jury’s

award of $30 million to Doy’s estate was so excessive that it shocked the

court’s conscience. Slip Op. at 20-24.  As the court understood, Washington

law limits the amount of damages that a jury may award to an amount that

is not “excessive.”  There was nothing wrong in the court’s explaining that

the $30 million verdict—which far exceeded the highest mesothelioma

verdict that courts in this state have affirmed—shocked the court’s

conscience.  The court’s unpublished decision conflicts with no precedents.
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The Coogans mishandle this Court’s prior decisions in Bunch,

Bingaman, and Washburn in arguing otherwise.  According to the Coogans,

Division Two “made no effort to analyze” the test for whether a verdict is

conscience-shocking and “simply stated that the award was too much.”

Petition at 15.  That is wrong.  The court discussed the applicable standards

at length:  It recited this Court’s test that a conscience-shocking verdict is

one whose amount is “flagrantly outrageous and extravagant” (Slip Op. at

21 (quoting Bingaman, 103 Wn.2d at 837), quoted this Court’s further

explication that “[a]n ‘outrageous’ verdict is one that is ‘so flagrantly bad

that one’s sense of decency or one’s power to suffer or tolerate is violated’”

(Slip Op. at 21 (quoting Washburn, 120 Wn.2d at 279 (quoting WEBSTER’S

THIRD NEW INT’L DICTIONARY 1603 (1981)))), analyzed the trial evidence,

and concluded in the end that the $30 million verdict for Doy’s estate met

the excessiveness standard. Id. at 22-24.

Attempting to manufacture a conflict, the Coogans also argue that

Division Two ignored Bunch because the court did not expressly find that

the jury was motivated by passion or prejudice, but Bunch required no such

finding.3  In Bunch, the Court explained that there are three independent

bases for challenging a verdict as excessive. See Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 179.

3 The Coogans are wrong that Division Two determined that the jury’s verdict was not
the product or passion or prejudice. Petition at 15 (citing Slip Op. at 25).  The court did
not rule out that passion or prejudice was a factor in producing the verdict.  It merely
concluded that the Coogans’ attorney’s misconduct did not cause the jury to base its verdict
on passion and prejudice. Slip Op. at 25.  Regardless, Division Two was not required to
find passion or prejudice before vacating the award to Doy’s estate and ordering a new trial
as to those damages.
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Although one of the grounds—passion or prejudice—has long been

codified (now in CR 59(a)(5)4), that codification “does not attempt to limit

the inherent power of the court,” so a court  may order a new trial  on any

one or more of the traditional grounds. Brammer v. Lappenbusch, 176

Wash. 625, 629-30, 30 P.2d 947 (1934) (interpreting the statutory

predecessor to CR 59(a)); see also Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 171-72 (discussing

the court’s inherent and statutory powers); Scobba v. City of Seattle, 31

Wn.2d 685, 699, 198 P.2d 805 (1948) (same).

As the sole authority for their contrary position, the Coogans strip

the following sentence from its context in Bunch:

The damages, therefore, must be so excessive as to strike mankind,
at first blush, as being, beyond all measure, unreasonable and
outrageous, and such as manifestly show the jury to have been
actuated by passion, partiality, prejudice, or corruption.

Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 179 (quoting Kramer v. Portland-Seattle Auto

Freight, Inc., 43 Wn.2d 386, 261 P.2d 692 (1953) (quoting Coleman v.

Southwick,  9  Johns.  45,  6  Am.  Dec.  253  (N.Y.  S.  Ct.  1812))).   Read  in

context, this Court used the quoted text to explain the standard for vacating

a verdict based specifically on a finding of passion or prejudice. See id.

Indeed, the quotation follows this Court’s listing of the three grounds in the

disjunctive (which, as the Coogans’ own citations confirm, this Court has

consistently done). Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 179; Petition at 8-9 (quoting

Bingaman, 103 Wn.2d at 835); see also Washburn, 120 Wn.2d at 265, 280;

4 From 1854 until 1967, the rule was statutory. See Coppo v. Van Wieringen, 36 Wn.2d
120, 127-28, 217 P.2d 294 (1950).  Washington adopted its Rules of Civil Procedure,
including CR 59, in 1967.
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Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 531, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976).

Beyond that, after the Coogans’ quoted sentence, the Court in Bunch

proceeded to analyze each ground as an independent potential basis for

vacatur. Bunch, 155 Wn.2d at 179-83.  And even beyond that, the case that

Bunch quoted—Kramer—expressly recognized that a court may vacate a

conscience-shocking verdict “in the absence of passion and prejudice.”

Kramer, 43 Wn.2d at 395-96.  This Court explained that in those

circumstances, the court must balance the deference given to the jury’s

verdict against the court’s conscience and find that the amount awarded was

“flagrantly outrageous and extravagant.” Id.

That is precisely what Division Two did here.  The court applied the

correct standard to conclude that the verdict shocked its conscience.  That

holding conflicts with no precedents—from this Court or otherwise—so

review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

2. Division Two’s decision does not conflict with prior
decisions applying the shocks-the-conscience standard.

For  similar  reasons,  the  Coogans  are  wrong  that  Division  Two’s

decision conflicts with decisions setting forth “settled principles” regarding

appellate review of damages awards. See Petition at 9-11.  Division Two

expressly recognized each of the three principles that the Coogans recite—

that (1) a jury’s verdict is presumptively correct, (2) the trial court’s denial

of a motion for a new trial “strengthens” the verdict against review, and (3)

an appellate court rarely should substitute its judgment for that of the jury

on damages. Slip Op. at 22.



ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 15
GEN023-0001  6223378

The court’s careful analysis confirms that it applied the correct

standard, was mindful of its proper role, and did not reach its conclusion

lightly.  Division Two recognized that the jury was instructed to consider

Doy’s “pain, suffering, anxiety, emotional distress, humiliation and fear.”

Slip Op. at 22 (quoting CP 14988).  It also “strongly presume[d]” that the

jury’s verdict was correct, but nevertheless concluded that it was compelled

to vacate the verdict for Doy’s estate because the amount shocked the

court’s conscience. Id. at 22-24.  Based on the evidence, the court

concluded, “this is the rare case where we must disregard the jury’s verdict

and the trial court’s refusal to find the verdict excessive.” Id. at 23.

To support their disagreement with the majority’s conclusion, the

Coogans rely heavily on Judge Melnick’s dissenting opinion.  But he

seemed to believe that no amount of damages would be excessive in this

case, stating that “[n]o amount of money could ever compensate Doy for

the suffering he endured[.]” Slip Op. at 52.  That reasoning conflicts with

Washington  law,  which  requires  courts  to  vacate  or  remit  an  excessive

verdict.  The excessiveness tool exists for a reason.  It exists for outlier and

conscience-shocking cases like this.

Besides that, Judge Melnick’s dissent also hinged on a factual error,

which the Coogans parrot on appeal.  According to Judge Melnick, Doy

suffered extensively before first visiting a doctor in mid-January 2015, less

than six months before his death. See Petition at 11-12; Slip Op. at 51-52.

There is no record support for that statement—and the Coogans’ own

evidence undermines it.  The Coogans’ expert, Dr. Brodkin, acknowledged
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that Doy “became ill in January of 2015.”  7 RP 120.   Doy’s sole complaint

at that initial doctor visit was that he had increasingly noticed bloating and

discomfort “over the last month.”  CP 5918 (emphasis added).  Three

months passed before he received his mesothelioma diagnosis, in April

2015.5  9 RP 151; 11 RP 81-82; CP 5924.  As the Division Two panel

majority noted, Doy’s health declined rapidly after that, with the most

severe symptoms occurring during the last few months of his life. Slip Op.

at 23; see 11 RP 80-90.  He started chemotherapy at the end of April 2015

and died just over two months later, not long after his third treatment, on

July 1, 2015.  CP 5924; 11 RP 89; 16 RP 78-79, 18 RP 72.  Indeed, the

Coogans’ expert Dr. Brodkin agreed with their counsel that Doy underwent

a “radical change” over about four months, explaining that “it was an

aggressive cancer and it led to rapid deterioration.”  11 RP 90.  The

Coogans’ mischaracterization of the factual record is no basis for this Court

to review Division Two’s unpublished decision.

Tracking Judge Melnick’s dissent, the Coogans also criticize GPC

and NAPA for supposedly pursuing an “all or nothing strategy” of arguing

“solely about liability” at trial. Slip Op. at 51; see Petition at 12-13.  But

GPC and NAPA did not capitulate on damages. See 47 RP 225.  After the

Coogans’ attorney requested $30 million for Doy’s estate, GPC and

NAPA’s attorney reminded the jury that we have a “compensatory system,”

that Washington does not allow punitive awards, and that “[t]his is not your

5 The Coogans misstate the facts in representing that Doy “died six months after his
diagnosis.” Petition at 6.  He died six months after his initial doctor visit—and three
months after his diagnosis.
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chance to take it out on a big company.”  47 RP 190, 225.  Neither the

Coogans nor Judge Melnick cite any authority for the notion that if a

defendant does not propose a specific alternative-damages figure during

closing argument, then the defendant somehow waives the right to

challenge a verdict as excessive. See Petition at 12-13; Slip Op. at 51.

Division Two understood that vacating a damages verdict as

excessive will happen only rarely, but it also understood that the

excessiveness standard exists for a reason.6  Division Two was shocked by

the jury’s $30 million award, which amounted to “$164,000 for each day

and over $5 million for each month from Doy’s first presentation with

symptoms to a doctor until his death.” Slip Op. at 23.  The Coogans have

not shown that Division Two’s unpublished decision on that score conflicts

with any prior cases, and so the Court should decline review. Cf. RAP

13.4(b)(1), (b)(2).

3. Division Two’s unpublished decision implicates no issue
of substantial public interest.

Nor does that holding implicate any issue of substantial public

interest.  Division Two decided not to publish its opinion, which reflects the

court’s determination that the decision did not resolve an unsettled or new

question of law, did not modify, clarify, or reverse an established principle

6 See, e.g., Gaddy v. Taylor Seidenbach, Inc., _ F. Supp. 3d _, 2020 WL 1041610 (E.D.
La. 2020) (remitting a general-damages verdict for wrongful death from mesothelioma six
months after diagnosis from $7.5 million to $3 million); Kimble v. Laser Spine Inst., LLC,
Nos. 617-618 EDA 2019, 2020 WL 1815775 at *11-12 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2020) (vacating a
$10 million wrongful-death award as excessive and ordering a new trial on damages);
Robaey v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp., No. 1920275/13, 2018 WL 4944382 at *13-15 (N.Y.
S. Ct. 2018) (remitting a mesothelioma verdict from $75 million to $17.5 million).
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of law, and was not in conflict with any earlier decision from that court. See

RAP 12.3(d).  As important, the Coogans did not move to publish Division

Two’s decision—they could have tried to do so on the basis that the decision

is “of general public interest”—which further confirms that the decision

involves no issue of substantial public interest. Cf. RAP 13.4(b)(4); see also

RAP 12.3(e).

VI. ADDITIONAL ISSUES THAT WARRANT DENIAL OF
REVIEW, BUT SHOULD BE ADDRESSED IF REVIEW IS

GRANTED

The Court should deny review, but if it decides to grant review, then

it should also accept for review three issues that are intertwined with those

raised by the Coogans.  Two of those issues involve serious counsel and

party misconduct; the third concerns whether the entire $81.5 million

verdict—as opposed to only the $30 million award to Doy’s estate—is

excessive.   Those issues provide alternative grounds for affirming Division

Two’s opinion and reversing the trial court’s judgment on damages.  They

would also warrant additional relief to GPC and NAPA, including a new

trial on liability and discovery into the scope of misconduct by the Coogans

during this litigation.  The very existence of these issues, two of which

Division Two did not reach, counsels against acceptance of review.

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